I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1) The Circuit Court erred in finding that the supervision of students by 

Respondents required by W. Va. Code § 18A-5-1 constituted a discretionary 

function, and that the law does not provide Petitioner with a clearly established 

statutory right to supervision by the public schools in any meaningful way, thereby 

affording qualified immunity to Petitioner's claims arising from the Respondents' 

failure to supervise. 

2) The Circuit Court erred in finding that the Respondents could only have 

breached their statutory duty of supervision if they possessed "actual knowledge" 

that the Petitioner and other students were engaging in potentially dangerous 

behavior during hours of instruction. 

3) The Circuit Court erred in finding that any duty of Respondents to 

supervise the students trusted in their care only applied to adult students while they 

were physically within the school building, and not on the contiguous grounds of the 

school. 

4) The Circuit Court erred in finding the Fayette County Board of 

Education was an agency of the state of West Virginia as defined in W. Va. Code 

§29-12A-3, and therefore not within the purview of the West Virginia Governmental 

Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act. 



5) The Circuit Court erred in premising its ruling on tl-iis Court's precedent 
I 

relating to correctional facilities, which are a special category of state actor. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Petitioner brought this action in the Circuit Court of Fayette County against 

the Fayette County Board of Education ("FCBOE") and others, seeking to recover 

damages for injuries he suffered on the soccer field of Oak Hill High School. Mr. 

Goodwin was a student at the time, and contends that his injuries resulted from a 

failure to supervise. App 2. 

The FCBOE moved to dismiss, claiming that the Fayette county school 

system was the under the West Virginia Board of Education ("WVBE"). The Court 

gave Petitioner leave to amend to join the WVBE in the action. After joinder of the 

state agency the case was transferred to Kanawha County Circuit Court. 

Following discovery, the Respondent Boards of Education and State 

Superintendent each moved for summary judgment on the ground of qualified 

immunity (FCBOE App 15, WVBE and Martriano App 49) and the Circuit Court 

sustained the motions. App 195. 

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Oak Hill High School is a AA school in Fayette Cou;nty, West Virginia, 

situated upon a campus of approximately 135 acres in the City of Oak Hill. Adjacent 

to the high school are the Fayette Vocational/Technical School, Collins Middle 

I 
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School, and New River Elementary. In addition to the high school building, there 
I 
I 

are auxiliary buildings, as well as the various sports fields including football, 

baseball and soccer. There are also the usual roads into and out of the facility, large 

parking lots and some forested areas. App. at 81 (Aerial photo ofOHHS campus). 

In June of 2014, the Fayette County School System was in difficult straits, 

having been "taken over" by the State Board of Education in February of 2010. At 

the time, the State Board of Education found that Fayette County School system was 

underperforming and that its underperformance had continued for such period of 

time that it needed immediate supervision by the State Board. App. at 82 (Minutes, 

West Virginia Board of Education, February 11,2010). 

June 9, 2014, was the next to last day of school at Oak Hill High. The 

Petitioner, although already 18 years old, was still a junior at Oak Hill High, with 

hopes of graduating in 2015 (He had been held back after his first year in school). 

App at 93. 

Also at school that day was Katharine Deel, a freshman, whom Mr. Goodwin 

had met on the school bus. She and some other friends had been playing chess in the 

cafeteria and decided to go to the soccer fields to "hang out." According to Ms. 

Deel, the "teachers weren't taking attendance, and they didn't care where we were." 

App at 116. Ms. Dee1 also recalled walking past the school resource officer who was 

stationed at the front door and he waved them goodbye. App 117. She stated that 
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I 

they made no attempt to avoid the school resource officer, noJ did they attempt to 
I 

conceal the fact that they were leaving the school. Id. 

Also, at the soccer field that day were Zach McCarthy and Levi Blevins, who 

were with Katharine Deel. After they arrived at the soccer field, Katharine returned 

to Oak Hill High again through the front door where she met Austin Goodwin. 

Katherine and Austin then returned to the soccer field together. App 117. 

At the soccer field two other students, Levi Blevins and Zach McCarthy, were 

wrestling. Both had been wrestlers and had wrestled together for many years. After 

watching them wrestle, Austin decided to give it a try and wrestled with Zach. App 

125. Unfortunately, Austin was not familiar with the sport, and when Zach 

performed a takedown, Austin reached back with his arm trying to catch himself. 

Not being a wrestler, Austin did not realize that was something you shouldn't do. 

Accordingly, when he fell, his "arm hit the ground, all of his weight, plus Zach's 

weight, all the force of them going down pretty much snapped his elbow." App at 

126. 

After Austin was injured, Zach gave Levi his phone to call 911 while Zach 

held Austin and comforted him. App 134. When the EMS arrived, they called the 

school and informed the administration. Representatives of the school showed up 

"because they were on school property." App 134. 
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It is apparent from the testimony of the students on the $occer field that day 

that attendance was not enforced, and skipping class was not a "big deal." According 

to Levi Blevins: 

Skipping class, you don't really get in a whole lot of trouble. You may 
get written up, and a day or so in ISS, but again, it was the second to 
last day. We don't do anything the last week of school but sit there, 
maybe watch movies in class. So really, what's the point of being 
there? So I figured they probably wouldn't be mad. 

App at 126. Levi's prediction was COlTect. After Austin had been cared for and taken 

to the hospital, the students involved were required to go to the principal's office. 

According to Levi: 

Yeah, they talked to us. They told us that yeah, we were wrong for 
going down there, and the usual stuff about skipping class. That was 
about it, they didn't really punish us for it. 

App 126. 

Similar observations were offered by other students involved. According to 

Zach McCarthy: 

Q: And did you all have to go to the office? 

A: Yes, sir. I spoke with Ms. Hayes, I do believe, as well as the officer 
on campus - or on the school grounds. 

Q: And did you get like a warning or anything for skipping class? 

A: Yes, sir. They gave me all the warnings, essentially btoke down the 
situation with me. I ended up not getting punished for: the situation, 
more of just a warning. And they explained the situation, that it could 
be very serious, depending on how it all went down. i 

App 134. 
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Cassidy Greenwood also was at the soccer field. Her de~cription of the next 

to last day of school at Oak Hill High School was as follows: 

Q: Okay. When you - why don~t we start at the beginning. Do you 
remember kind of whether this was the last day, or second to last day 
of school? 

A: We were taking exams, so kids didn~t really have to be there. They 
could just be there if they wanted to. 

Q: It~s my understanding there were some kids that had to take tests? 

A: Vh-huh. 

Q: And some that didn~t. 

A: Yes. 

Q: And so that for the kids that didn~t have to take those tests, that 
attendance was being taken and classes were being run, but if you 
weren ~t taking tests, you essentially really weren't doing anything in 
the class; is that right? 

A: Yes, sir. 

Q: Did you go to the school that morning? 

A: Yes. 

Q: And did you - tell me what happened after you go to school that 
mornmg. 

A: Well, a lot of the teachers, if you didn~t want to be in class, you 
could just ask to go to the cafeteria, or wherever. And so that's what 
we did, we were actually playing checkers in the cafeteria. And then 
that's when we all had the idea to go to the field. 

Q: SO you were sitting in the cafeteria playing checkers with some 
other students that morning? I 

A: Yes, sir. 
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Q: Did you understand that by leaving the building, you were actually 
cutting class? 

A: Yes, sir. 

Q: Did you understand that was something that really you weren't 
supposed to be doing? 

A: Yes, absolutely. I - we didn't know - I asked Ms. Hayes, I was 
like, are they really taking attendance? And she told me, she was just 
like, kind of, sort of. So like I knew that they weren't actually really 
taking attendance or like it really matter if you were there or not. 

App 141-142. 

Carlos Serrano, another student at the soccer field, also recalled skipping the 

next to last day of school in a somewhat different manner, but fairly consistent with 

the other students: 

Q: The best that you can, why don't you tell me what you remember 
about that day in general? And when I say that, about how - what was 
going on at school, and kind of how you ended up at the soccer field. 

A: Okay. So we were - we got drove to the school by bus, obviously, 
in the morning. And we all met up, I can't remember exactly where. 
We all met up somewhere. But Austin was not a part of the group that 
was originally supposed to go and quote/unquote, skip school, I guess 
you'd say. Although we were never on the attendance list because we 
never actually showed up to class that day. We just kind of used the 
school as sort of like a meeting place almost. 

So after that, we you know, went down to the - we went down to the 
football field, kind of played down there a little bit, went up to the 
school, ate lunch, and that's when Austin wanted to join us, come down. 
And we had moved to the soccer field at this point. And we said okay. 
So we all went - we all went down there. 

App 151-152. 
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Austin Goodwin's arm was seriously injured and to date He has incurred some 
I 
I 

$200,000 plus dollars in medical expenses. He also has a significant scar, moderate 

restriction of the use of his arm, and continues to suffer from periodic infections of 

the arm. 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

This case concerns the Respondents duty to supervise the students entrusted 

in their care. While the parties and lower court agree that Respondents have a duty 

to supervise, Respondents failed to even attempt to comply with this duty in failing 

to monitor, control, or supervise the students involved in Mr. Goodwin's injuries in 

any way. In dismissing Petitioners claims against all Defendant's the lower court 

erroneously relieved Petitioners of a duty that was not contested. The duty to 

supervise is not discretionary. While the implementation and execution of such a 

duty may involve discretionary decision making, the duty itself is absolute and 

Students and parents alike should be confident that the schools in this state supervise 

the students entrusted in their care. Implicit in that charge is knowing who is present 

on the schools campus so that students can be supervised and to prevent individual 

with malicious intent from harming others. 

The Circuit Court erred in granting Respondents qualified immunity because 

the record is clear that there was no supervision at all, and students and individuals 

were free to come and go as they pleased with absolutely no control. Petitioner is 
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not claiming that the Respondents inadequately complied with their duty to 

supervise, Petitioner instead claims Respondents made no effort whatsoever to 

comply with its statutory duty. Respondents don't contest that they failed to 

supervise, and even argued in favor of their Motion for Summary Judgment that their 

failure to supervise resulted in a total lack of "actual knowledge." The 

acknowledgement that Respondents had no knowledge whatsoever of any of the 

children present for Mr. Goodwin's injuries is a patent confirmation of Respondents' 

failure to comply with their duty to supervise. One cannot supervise when one has 

no knowledge of who is present on its campus. 

Further, Petitioner the Circuit Court also misapplied W. Va. Code § lSA-5-1 

in holding that an adult student leaves the supervision of the school personnel the 

second he exits the schoolhouse door. Error was also committed in holding that the 

FCBOE was not governed by the West Virginia Governmental Tort Immunities Act, 

simply because the WVBE took general control of its decision making. Finally, the 

Circuit Court's ruling was premised on inapplicable precedent. Specifically, the 

lower court erred in finding that the same standard applied to correctional facilities 

applied to Respondents. In doing so, the lower court ignored a plain statutory 

exemption for correctional facilities not available to state actors such as 

Respondents. 
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IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGpMENT 

Petitioner believes oral argument is appropriate here under Rule 19 as the 

issues presented herein, i.e., whether students have a clearly established right to 

effective supervision, is a narrow issue of law. As stated herein, the parties agree 

that Respondents had a statutory duty to supervise and Respondents made no effort 

to comply with that duty. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENTS' DUTY TO 

SUPERVISE CONSTITUTES A DISCRETIONARY FUNCTION WITHOUT A CLEAR 

STATUTORY RIGHT OF STUDENTS TO BE SUPERVISED 

The Court found, and the parties agree, that boards of education have a duty 

to supervise students trusted in their care. However, the Respondents failed to offer 

any evidence to show how it supervised any of its students. While implementation 

and administration of compliance with the duty to supervise may constitute a 

discretionary function, the duty itself is absolute and itself not discretionary. 

Respondents do not deny this, and instead argue that their duty does not require they 

know the location of the students trusted in their care, or others present on their 

campus. One cannot supervise without the requisite knowledge of the location of 

those trusted in your care. 
I 

Respondents argue that their failure to supervise their students, resulting in 

their alleged total lack of actual knowledge of the students' lo~ation or behavior in 
i 

the moments leading up to the Petitioner's injuries, shield therh from any liability. 

I 
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I 

Respondents' "bury our head in the sand" approach to supervisibn is directly at odds 

with their statutory duty to supervise and, if anything, supports Petitioner's 'claim 

that Respondents violated their statutory duty to supervise. 

1) RESPONDENTS FAILED TO OFFER ANY EVIDENCE THAT THEY 

SUPER VISED ANY STUDENT 

Respondents offered no evidence to show how they complied with their duty 

to supervise, and the Petitioner argues that the boards' admitted lack of knowledge 

of the students' whereabouts is direct evidence of the Defendants' breach of their 

statutory duty. W. Va. Code §18A-5-1(a) states: 

The teacher shall stand in the place of the parent(s), guardian(s) or 
custodian(s) in exercising authority over the school and has control of 
all students enrolled in the school from the time they reach the school 
until they have returned to their respective homes ... " 

(emphasis added). 

In legal effect, the teachers stand in loco parentis, in the stead of their normal 

parents or guardians. The duty of the Respondents is codified extensively: for 

example, 126 C.S.R. 81, Policy Number 4110, Attendance. §126-81-2 "Rationale" 

states the importance of insuring attendance: 

2.1. The WVBE recognizes that a direct relationship exists 
between students' daily school attendance and academic performance, 
graduation, and good work habits. This attendance policy promotes 
students' daily school attendance. Each county shall ~e required to 
develop and implement a county attendance policy in ac60rdance with 
this policy. Daily attendance is necessary for students 'to meet their 
schools' academic program standards as each day's learning builds on 

I 

the work previously completed. While students and parents/guardians 

I 
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have the ultimate responsibility for daily school attendanGe, the laws of 
West Virginia require school administrators to enforc& compulsory 
school attendance, and to provide an environment conducive to, and 
encouraging of, attendance. 

§126 C.S.R. 81-2.1 (Effective 2010). 

The fundamental principle of parental duty, and hence that of those in loco 

parentis, is knowing where one's children should be and knowing where they are. 

It is the first principle of good parenting and there is no discretion involved. Either 

the parent knows these things or their parenting fails from the start. 

In the case at bar, Petitioner and his fellow students testified they were left 

unsupervised and Respondents presented no evidence to rebut this claim. Attendance 

was irrelevant and not taken seriously; students were not expected or required to be 

in class; students congregated on a vacant athletic field without permission or 

knowledge of staff - they were free to come and go as the pleased without so much 

as an acknowledgement from Respondents. In fact, when Petitioner and his friend 

left the main school building, the school resource officer stationed at the front door 

merely waived goodbye. 

Respondents' duty to supervise is statutory, not discretionary. W. Va. Code 

§ 18A-5-1 is not ambiguous and it clearly establishes Respondents' authority and 
, 

duty to supervise the students entrusted in their care. The fac1s at bar evidence a 
I 

wholesale disregard of the fundamental, overarching obligatibn of the school to 

provide adequate supervision. 
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Petitioner contends that the Respondents violated the clttar statutory right of 
! 

the students to be supervised, and the parallel right of the parents to be secure in their 

reliance on the Respondents to supervise their children. Therefore, Petitioner 

contends that the Court erred in finding that qualified immunity shielded 

Respondents from liability for injuries sustained as a direct result of Respondents' 

breach of their duty to supervise. 

2) BECAUSE THE DUTY TO SUPERVISE IS A CLEARLY IMPOSED STATUTORY 

DUTY, QUALIFIED IMMUNITY DOES NOT ApPLY 

Qualified immunity shields the public servant from the Hobson's choice of 

exercising discretion when fulfilling a public duty or service. 

A policeman's lot is not so unhappy that he must choose between being 
charged with dereliction of duty if he does not arrest when he has 
probable cause, and being mulcted in damages if he does. 

Pierson v. Ray, 386 U.S. 547, 555, 87 S. Ct. 1213, 1218, 18 L. Ed. 2d 288 (1967). 

However, it only protects when there is a choice of whether or not to act: It does not 

immunize those public officials and entities who neglect to perform their duty when 

that duty is clear, and the decision not to act is a matter of volition, not discretion. 

In West Virginia, the doctrine of qualified immunity is well-established. The 

initial step in the analyzing whether the state or its officers is entitled to the immunity 

I 

is determining whether the nature of the actions giving rise to the claim are 

discretionary: 

Page 13 0/25 



To determine whether the State, its agencies, officials, and/or 
1 

employees are entitled to immunity, a reviewing court must first 
identify the nature of the governmental acts or omissions which give 
rise to the suit for purposes of determining whether such acts or 
omissions constitute legislative, judicial, executive or administrative 
policy-making acts or otherwise involve discretionary governmental 
functions. 

West Virginia Reg'! Jail & Carr. Facility Auth. v. A.B., 234 W. Va. 492, 507, 766 

S.E.2d 751, 766 (2014). Should the cause of action arise from "judicial, legislative, 

executive or administrative policy-making acts or omissions ... " the state and any 

officials involved are immune. Id. If the cause of action arises from discretionary 

functions, however, then immunity may not apply if " ... the plaintiff has 

demonstrated that such acts or omissions are in violation of clearly established 

statutory or constitutional rights or laws of which a reasonable person would have 

known or are otherwise fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive ... " Id (Citing State v. 

Chase Securities, Inc., 188 W.Va. 356,424 S.E.2d 591 (1992)). 

In the case sub judice, Petitioner's claims arise from a statutory duty to 

supervise. As established supra, the duty to supervise is statutory, not discretionary. 

Thus, the Circuit Court erred in finding that" ... the alleged acts and omissions of the 

Defendants constitutes [sic] discretionary functions." Final Order, paragraph 23, 

App 198. 
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3) EVEN IF THE STATUTORY DUTY TO SUPERVISE IS DEEMED 
I 

DISCRETIONARY, RESPONDENTS' FAILURE TO SUPERVISE CONSTITUTES 

A VIOLATION OF CLEARLY ESTABLISHED STATUTORY LA WS RENDERING 

QUALIFIED IMMUNITY Il\'APPLICABLE 

Even if this Court were to conclude that the statutory duty to supervise was

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