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

ARGUMENT 

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo. Syl. pt. 1, Painter v. 

Peavy, 451 S.E.2d 755 (W.Va 1994). The test for determining the propriety of summary judgment 

is set forth in Syllabus Point 3 of Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Federal Ins. Co. o/New York, 133 S.E2d 

770 (W.Va 1963), where the Court held, "[aJ motion for swnmary judgment ,should be granted only 

when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not 
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desirable to clarifY the application of the law." The decision in Painter v. Peb.vy, marked a significant 

shift in the attitude of the Court toward swnmary judgment 1ms shift injudicial attitude was reflected 

in the following stat.ement: 

Rille 56 of th~ West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure plays an important role in 
litigation in this State. It is "designed to effect a prompt disposition of controversies 
on their merits without resort to a lengthy trial;" if in essence there is no real dispute 
as to salient facts or if only a question oflaw is involved ... Indeed, it is one of the fcw 
safeguards in existence that prevents frivolous lawsuits that have survived a motion to 
dismiss from being tried. Its principal purpose is to isolate and dispose of meritless 
litigation ... To the extent that our prior cases implicitly have communicated a message 
that Rille 56 is not to be used, that message is hereby modified. When a motion for 
summary judgment is mature for consideration and is properly documented with such 
clarity as to leave no room for controversy, the nonmoving party must take the 
initiative and by affinnative evidence demonstrate that a genuine issue of fact exists. 
Otherwise, Rille 56 empowers the trial court to grant the motion. 

451 S.E.2d at 758. As the Circuit Court of Kanawha County correctly found below, this is such a 

case. 

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT OF KANAWHA COUNTY DID NOT ERR IN FINDING 
THAT RESPONDENTS WERE ENTITLED TO QUALIFIED IMMUNITY FOR 
THE CLAIMS OF NEGLIGENCE BEING ASSERTED BY THE PETITIONER. 

Petitioner's claims of negligence against these Respondents are categorically barred by the 

doctrine of qualified immunity. The only claims asserted by the Petitioners against these 

Respondents are claims of negligence. However, West Virginia law bars any such claims: 

In the absence of an insurance contract waiving the defense, the doctrine of 
qualified or official immunity bars a claim o(mere negligence against a State 
agency not within the purview of the West Virginia Governmental Tort 
Claims and Insurance Reform Act, W. VA. CODE § 29-12A-1, et seq., and 
against an officer of that department acting within the scope of his or her 
employment., with respect to the discretionary judgments, decisions, and 
actions of the officer. 

Syl. pt. 6, Clarkv. Dunn, 195 W. Va. 272, 465 S.E.2d 374 (1995) (emphasis added); accord Jarvis 

v. W. Va. State Police, 227 W. Va. 472, 481-82, 711 S.E.2d 542, 551-52 (2010). 

In the instant matter, it is indisputable that the Petitioner's claims of negligence against 
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Respondents, WVBE and Dr. Martirano, do not fall within the purview of the west Virginia 

Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act. The WVBE is not willrin the purview of 

the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims Rlld Insurance Refonn Act, W.va Code § 29-12A-

1 et seq., as it is not a political subdivision as defined under W.Va. Code § 29-12A-3(c), but is 

part of the "State" defined in pertinent part as "all boards, offices, commissions, agencies ... and 

other instnnnentalities of the state of West Virginia." W.Va. Code §29-12A-3(e). As such, it is 

clear that Petitioner's claims against the WVBE and Dr. Martirano do not fall under the purview 

of the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act. 

Moreover, the FCBE also does not fall under the purview of the Governmental Tort Claims 

and Insurance Refonn Act as the subject events occurred during a period ofWVBE intervention, 

and as such the FCBE was an instrumentality or arm of the State. As recognized by this Court in 

Croaff, the district court for the Southern District of West Virginia has previously extended 

defenses and immunities afforded to the State to county boards of education during periods of 

WVBE intervention. In Workman v. Mingo County Schools, 667 F. Supp. 2d 679 (S.D. W. Va. 

2009), the district court found that the MCBE was entitled to the State's eleventh amendment 

immunity protection due to the intervention of the WVBE in the operations of Mingo County 

schools. Additionally, in B.E. v. Mount Hope High School, No. 2:11-CV-00679, 2012 WL 

3580190 (S.D. W. Va. Aug. 13,2012), the Fayette County school system, like Mingo County, was 

under intervention by the WVBE and the district court again held that the Fayettc County Board 

of Education is an ann of the state of West Virginia and also entitled to the State's Eleventh 

Amendment immunity. 

The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals has set forth criteria when analYzing whether an entity 

is an arm of a state. In Workman, the district court found that application jof the Fourth Circuit's 
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factors to determine whether an entity is an arm of the state directed that the court's conclusion 

that county boards during periods ofinteIVention are an arm of the state. Id. at 685-87. Therefore, 

this Court is urged to reach the same result and conclude that county boards of education, during 

periods of intervention, are arms of the state entitled to immunities and defenses afforded to the 

State, specifically, qualified immunity. 

Next, this Court must then identify the nature of the governmental acts or omissions which 

give rise to the suit for purposes of determining whether such acts or omissions constitute 

legislative, judicial, executive, or administrative policy-making acts or involve otherwise 

discretionary governmental functions. W. Virginia Bd. of Educ. v. Marple, 236 W. Va. 654, 663, 

783 S.E.2d 75 (2015). Despite Petitioner's contention, the Petitioner's claims arise from the 

discretionary functions of the Respondents (i.e. the supervision of students under Defendants 

control). The Petitioner cites no case law or authority in support of his position that the supervision 

of students is not a discretionary function. The Petitioner does cite to the general code provision 

W.Va Code § 18A-5-1(a) stating that teachers shall stand in the place of the guardian while 

students are at school. However, the subject code provision does not prove or show that supervision 

of students is not a discretionary function. The manner in which individual schools or teachers 

supervise their students is largely left to the discretion of each school or teacher. Simply because 

there is a statute indicating that schools are to supervise their students, does not mean that the 

supervision of students itself is a non-discretionary function. There are several other cases directly 

on point that should guide this Court's analysis. 

The Respondents maintain that the supervision of students while at school is a discretionary 

function. This Court has made the following rulings and findings with regard to what typr of 

conduct constitutes discretionary functions: W Virginia Reg 'I Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B., 
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234 W. Va. 492, 766 S.E.2d 751 (2014) (holding that "[t]raining, supervision, and retention of 

corrections officers were discretiona.""'j functions"); see also Grace v. Spar~, Nos. 2:15-01505, 

2:15-00281,2016 WL 2587189 (S.D. W.Va. 2016) (citing A.B. with approval); West Virginia 

Board o/Education v. Croaff, No. 16-0532,2017 WL 2172009 (W.Va. 2017) (holding that the 

provision of a safe workplace is also a discretionary fimction). Other jurisdiction have directly 

addressed the question presently before this Court. In Cole v. Shadoan, 782 F. Supp. 2d 428 (E.n. 

Ky. 2011) that court found "[tJhat principal and superintendent were engaged in discretionary 

functions with respect to their supervision of teacher and students .... " In the instant matter, it is 

clear that the supervision of students is a discretionary function for which Respondents are immune 

from claims of negligence arising out of such discretionary functions. 

The next analysis that the Court must engage in is whether the alleged conduct of the 

Respondents violated any clearly established constitutional or statutory right of the Petitioner. 

"Government officials performing discretionary functions are shielded from liability for civil 

damages insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional 

rights ofwhlch a reasonable person would have known." State v. Chase Securities, Inc., 188 W. 

Va. 356, 360, 424 S.E.2d 591, 595 (1992). The Respondents maintain that their alleged conduct 

does not violate any clearly established statutory or constitutional right ofthe Petitioner. 

The Petitioner alleges that the Respondents violated W. Va. Code § 18A-5-1. However, the 

subject statute docs not provide for, or afford, the Petitioner with any statutory or constitutional 

right. This statute may operate to create a duty on the Respondents but it does not provide the 

Petitioner with any statutory right to be supervised. "For a statutory or constitutional right to be 

'clearly established,' so that a government official lacks qualified immunity from civil damages 

liability for violating that right because the right was clearly established at the time of the 
I 

! 
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challenged conduct, the right must be sufficiently clear that every reasonkble official would have 

understood that what he is doing violates that right; in other words, existing precedent must have 

placed the st.atutory or constitutional question beyond debate." Reichle v. Howards, 566 U.S. 658, 

132 S. Ct. 2088, 182 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2012). "Under the 'clearly established' standard for qualified 

immunity, which shields government officials from civil damages liability for violating a 

constitutional right unless the right was clearly established at the time of the challenged conduct, 

the right allegedly violated must be established not as a broad general proposition, but in a 

particularized sense so that the contours of the right are clear to a reasonable official." Id. The 

subject code provision is not clearly established in the subject matter as such code provision does 

not provide any right to the Petitioner. Even if such code provision was determined to afford any 

right to the Petitioner, said code only operates as a general proposition and cannot be the basis of 

any clearly established statutory right. In the instant matter, the Petitioner is asserting exactly what 

the United States Supreme Court has held, does not constitute a clearly established right. 

It is well-settled law that a State agency is immune from simple negligence claims: "In the 

absence of an insurance contract waiving the defense, the doctrine of guaJiCled or official 

immunity bars a claim of mere negligence against a State agency not within the purview of the 

West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, W. Va. Code § 29-12A-l et 

seq." Syl. Pt. 6, Clark, 195 W.Va. at 272,465 S.E.2d at 374 (emphasis added); Syl. Pt. 7, A.B., 

234 W. Va. at 492, 766 S.E.2d at 751. See, e.g., A.B., 234 W. Va. a1515, 766 S.E.2d at 774 n. 32 

(2014) (noting that plaintiff did not plead a violation of civil rights and pleading only simple 

negligence against the State agency is insufficient to defeat immunity in absence of a violation of 

a clearly established right). 
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Therefore, because the Respondents are all agencies, officers, instrumentalities, and/or 

arms of the State not under the purview of the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and 

Insurance Reform Act; and the al1eged ",onduct engaged in by the Respondents constitutes 

discretionary functions; and the Petitioner has failed to articulate any clearly established statutory 

or constitutional right of his that these Respondents violated; and because the Petitioner has only 

asserted allegations of negligence against the Respondents, this Court must affirm the decision of 

the lower court and find that the Respondents are immune from Petitioner's claim of negligence 

pursuant to the doctrine of qualified immunity. For the reasons stated above, Petitioner's 

assignments of error, Errors 1 and 4, must be denied and the decision of the Kanawha County 

Circuit Court must be affirmed. 

m. THE CIRCUIT COURT OF KANAWHA COUNTY DID NOT ERR IN FINDING 
THAT BECAUSE ALL OF THE ALLEGED CONDUCT OCCURRED DURING A 
PERIOD OF STATE INTERVENTION THAT THE FCBE WAS AN ARM OF THE 
STATE AND THEREFORE ENTITLED TO IMMUNITIES AND DEFENSES 
AFFORDED TO THE STATE BOARD. 

As stated above, the Kanawha County Circuit Court did not err in finding that during the 

period of intervention the FCBE was an ann of the State and therefore entitled to qualified 

immunity. The Respondents' argument addressing assignment of error, Error-4, is discussed more 

fully above and will not be argued again herein for the sake of judicial economy. However, these 

Respondents do again state that Petitioner'S assignments of error, Errors 1 and 4, must be denied 

and the decision of the Kanawha County Circuit Court must be affirmed. 

IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT OF KANAWHA COUNTY DID NOT ERR IN FINDING 
THAT THE RESPONDENTS COULD NOT HAVE BREACHED ANY DUTY TO 
THE PETITIONER AS NONE OF THE RESPONDENTS HAD ACTUAL 
KNOWLEDGE THAT THE PETITIONER AND OTHER STUDENTS WERE 
WRESTLING AT THE SOCCER FIELD. 

The Kanawha County Circuit Court did not err in finding that the Rekpondents did not owe 
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any duty to supervise the Petitioner or that the only way any purported duty could have been 

breached was if the Respondents had actual knowledge of the dangerous condition. The 

Petitioner's Brief respectively identified such alleged errors as Error 2 and Error 3. The crux of 

the aforementioned issues tum on whether any duty the Respondents may have owed to supervise 

the adult-student Petitioner ceased once he left the school and whether actual knowledge of the 

dangerous conduct by the Respondents is required for them to have breached any purported duty. 

According to this Court, "in an action founded on negligence the plaintiff must show 

affinnatively the defendant's failure to perform a duty owed to the former proximately resulting 

in injury." Moore by and through Knight v. Wood County Bd. OjEduc., 200 W. Va 247, 489 S.E.2d 

1 (W.Va. 1997). In Moore, a student brought a civil action against the Wood County Board of 

Education after the student was injured while waiting for the school bus. ld. at 3-4. Specifically, 

this student was thrown to the ground by another student and sustained injuries. Jd. Ultimately, the 

Court remanded the case back to Circuit Court for a determination as to whether the Wood County 

Board of Education owed a duty to the injured student. Jd. However, before remanding the same, 

the Court stated that the negligence issue is three fold: (1) did the board of education owe a duty 

to the student; (2) was there a breach of that duty; and (3) was that breach of duty the proximate 

cause of the student's injuries. Moore, 200 W.Va at 252,489 S.E.2d at 13. The determination of 

whether a defendant in a particular case owes a duty to the plaintiff is not a factual question for 

the jury; rather the detennination of whether a plaintiff is owed a duty of care by a defendant must 

be rendered by the court as a matter oflaw. Aikens v. Debow, 208 W.Va 486, 491, 541 S.E.2d 576 

(2000). 

In the instant matter, the Petitioner alleges that the Respondents owed him a duty to 

supervise pursuant to W. Va Code §18A-5-1(a). However, t.1e Respondents did not owe any duty 
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to supervise the Petitioner as he was an adult student who had left schoc)} and any such duty the 

Respondents may have owed the Petitioner ceased when he left the school building. The code 

provision which generally creates a duty for school boards and their teachers in negligence causes 

of action is found within W. Va. Code §18A-5-1. In pertinent part, this code provision states "[t]he 

teacher shall stand in the place of the parent(s), guardian(s) or custodian(s) in exercising authority 

over the school and has control of all students enrolled in the school from the time they reach the 

school until they have returned to their respective homes .... " W. Va Code §18A-5-1(a). W. Va. 

Code §18A-5-1(g)(I) states that" 'Student' includes any child, youth or adult who is enrolled in 

any instructional program or activity conducted under board authorization and within the facilities 

of or in connection with any program under public school direction: Provided, that, in the case of 

adults, the student-teacher relationship shall terminate when the student leaves the school or 

other place of instruction or activity." "School" means the students and teachers assembled in 

one or more buildings, organized as a unit. W. Va. Code § 18-1-1. 

The facts of this case as cited above are indisputable and uncontroverted. The Petitioner 

was injured as a result of his own decision to skip class and to wrestle another student The 

Petitioner was not injured in the school or other place of instruction or activity. Therefore, any

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